FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
JULY 2, 2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

99947-3

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/11/2021 4:21 PM

No. 80731-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION 1

KASEY CAHAN, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington public benefit corporation, d/b/a ST. FRANCIS HOSPITAL,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Charles P. Rullman, WSBA No. 42733 Jacob M. Downs, WSBA No. 37982 CORR|DOWNS PLLC 100 W. Harrison St., Suite N440 Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 962-5040 Attorneys for Appellant

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Cahan Worked as Nurse at St. Francis Hospital for 23 Years.

Cahan obtained her bachelor's degree from California State Poly Technic Institute in 1991. (Clerk's Papers ("CP") 596.) In 1995, she earned her nursing license from Highline Community College and the Hospital hired her as a registered nurse. (*Id.*) Cahan worked at the Hospital for 23 years. Not once during those 23 years was Cahan suspended or did she fear being terminated. (*Id.* 1302.) In fact, Cahan's performance evaluations from the prior 10 years all show that she met or exceeded expectations. (*Id.* 1153, 1156-1290.)

For 16 of her 23 years at the Hospital—2002 to 2018—Cahan worked in the perioperative services department. (CP 596.) Perioperative services is comprised of multiple units that manage the different phases of patient care for elective surgeries. (*Id.*) These include the Pre-Admission Clinic where Pre-Admission Testing ("PAT") occurs, the Same-day Admit and Discharge Unit ("SADU"), and the Post-Anesthesia Care Unit ("PACU"). (*Id.*) The nurses in each of these units interact with the patients in both the pre-surgical and post-surgical phases of their care. (*Id.*)

B. Provider Orders, Consents, and Patient Health & Physicals Must be Delivered to Perioperative Services <u>Before</u> Nurses May Administer Non-Exigent Care.

Nurses are not allowed, by law, to administer non-exigent care without orders from a provider; generally, a physician, a nurse practitioner,

or a physician's assistant. The Hospital maintains policies to ensure that provider orders are delivered in a timely manner in order for nurses in perioperative services to prepare for and administer elective procedures. (CP 274.) The Hospital's "Provider Order Policy, 954.25" is intended "[t]o clarify regulatory requirements and assure all provider orders are complete and valid for safe patient care." (*Id.* 292-299.) It states that "[a] provider order is required to admit a patient, place a patient in Observation, discharge a patient, transfer a patient to another physician or facility or unit, and for all tests, services, therapies and procedures." (*Id.*) There are then specific policies to address each necessary step in the pre-operative and post-operative process.

First, a provider must obtain informed consent from a patient or their representative. The Hospital's policy titled "Consent for Treatment, 400.00" requires that providers obtain informed consent prior to any proposed medical treatment or therapy, procedure, surgery, or anesthesia. (CP 304-314.) The policy places the responsibility on the provider to explain the medical treatment and procedures to the patient, and for obtaining the patient's informed consent. (*Id.*) At the same time, the nurse also has an obligation to assure that the physician has obtained the necessary consents. (*Id.*) In her deposition, Bennett, the Manager of the Perioperative Services Unit, described the purpose of the policy as follows:

=

¹ In certain circumstances, a "standing order" may authorize specific services and treatments, but a standing order is limited in scope and application. (CP 292.)

Q: Is there a reason beyond policy?

A: <u>It's not within the nurse's scope to obtain a consent.</u>

Q: Is it a matter of health and safety for the patient? [objection]

A: I -- the way you're asking the question, I mean, it's -- ultimately, the goal is for the patient to understand what's happening to them, [...]. If the patient says I don't understand this or this hasn't been explained to me, then you would go up the chain.

Q: And would you agree that it would be improper to administer surgical care to a patient who does not understand what he is -- what is about to occur?

A: \underline{Yes} .

(CP 282; emphasis added.) According to Risk Manager Aileen Geerings, if a provider is unwilling or unable to obtain the patient's informed consent, the patient should not proceed to surgery. (CP 290.) This requirement of a hard-stop is necessary "to prevent serious safety harm to the patient." (*Id.*; emphasis added.)

Second, prior to surgery, a nurse must follow the Hospital policy titled "Preoperative Preparation Policy, 960.00." (CP 316-318.) This policy reiterates that a nurse must "[v]erify that pre-operative admitting physician and anesthesia orders have been transcribed and performed as ordered." (*Id.*) The nurse must also have a "Surgical Informed Consent obtained by [the] surgeon performing procedure and witnessed per policy." (*Id.*) The nurse must also have a Health and Physical form ("H&P") completed within 30 days of the scheduled procedures." (*Id.*) Finally, the policy lists the following "reportable concerns" that must be resolved before sending the patient to surgery: Informed consent has not been obtained; no

pre-operative orders from surgeon; and no H&P. (*Id.*) The Hospital's "Surgical Preadmission Assessment and Documentation Guidelines" reiterate that pre-admission nurses must receive timely H&Ps and pre-operative orders in order to process a patient for surgery. (*Id.* 320-325.)

Third, post-operative provider orders are also required. The "Provider Order Policy, 954.25" requires that "[a]ll orders are cancelled upon entry to the surgical suite" and "[n]ew orders must be written after surgery." (CP 292-299.) This means that a nurse may not administer care to a post-surgical patient unless and until the provider enters new orders. Department manager Hannah Bennett testified about the importance of receiving orders for post-surgical care:

- Q: Can you read the first bullet point [of a PowerPoint]?
- A: "No Preop orders is an ongoing issue but No Post-procedure orders is a larger safety issue."
- Q: How is it a safety issue?
- A: In my opinion, when the patients had their procedure and received any type of sedation during a procedure, they're at a higher risk of some sort of a postprocedural complication versus a preop patient who comes in without having had received medications or something invasive that could impact their status.
- Q: And so if there's not -- for lack of better words, are the stakes higher in a postprocedural setting if you do not have orders and cannot administer care to that patient? [Objection]
- A: <u>If you're comparing the two populations of patients, then I would say yes.</u>

(CP 283; *see also* 301.) The Hospital's Division Director for Accreditation and Licensing also confirmed the effect of the Provider Order Policy:

Q: Is a registered nurse authorized to place a patient in observation without a provider order?

A: No.

Q: Is a registered nurse authorized to discharge a patient without a provider order

A: No.

Q: Is a registered nurse authorized to administer tests to a patient without a provider order?

A: <u>No</u>. [...]

Q: Is a registered nurse allowed to administer an IV, an intravenous drip to a patient without provider orders? [Objection.]

A: <u>A nurse would need an order to start an IV.</u> (CP 274; emphasis added.)

This is not just a matter of Hospital policy. Washington law precludes nurses from providing care absent provider orders. "Registered nursing practice" includes "[t]he executing of medical regimen as prescribed by a licensed physician and surgeon[.]" RCW 18.79.040(e); emphasis added. Thus, registered nurses operate in an interdependent capacity when providing medical care, treatment and service to patients. See WAC 246-840-705. RCW 18.79.260 states that a registered nurse may only administer medications, treatments, tests, and inoculations at or under the general direction of a licensed physician or surgeon. See also WAC 246-840-700(3). Nursing care that exceeds the direction of a licensed physician or surgeon is subject to discipline under the Uniform Disciplinary Act. See RCW 18.79.120. In other words, violation of these laws places a nurse's license in jeopardy.

C. The Hospital's Pre-Admission Protocol Requires that Providers Deliver Records Two Days In Advance of a Procedure.

Providers are not only required to enter orders per Hospital policy (and state law), but they must also do so within a specific timeframe. The Hospital's Pre-Admission Protocol states that providers must submit the following documentation two days before a patient may be admitted: (1) pre-operative risk screen form and surgery confirmation; (2) surgeon orders (signed within 90 days); (3) surgery consent (signed within 90 days); and (4) office notes or "history and physical" (H&P) prepared within 180 days. (CP 327.) The Pre-Admission Protocol is a health and safety protocol. The Hospital's Risk Manager testified on this point at her deposition:

- Q: Does the hospital have an expectation how far in advance a provider will provide that type of documentation before a patient may be admitted to perioperative services? [Objection to form.]
- A: So an expectation, <u>yes</u>. They do have an expectation so that we have before taking the patient to surgery, and if that is -if you don't have all the proper documentation, then the patient shouldn't proceed. You shouldn't proceed to -- for the surgery because you need to have all that. It's part of your universal protocol as well and your time-out, and <u>those</u> are -- those are safety measures that are put in to prevent serious safety harm to the patient. One of them is being that you have a consent signed. [...]. So these are the safety measures that are in place. And typically, the nurse -- the nurses are really good in identifying those safety concerns.
- Q: So having the appropriate documentation before commencing a procedure is a health and safety issue?
- A: Yes, yes.

(CP 290.) The Hospital's Chief Nursing Officer, Johnson, reiterated that the Pre-Admission protocol is a patient health and safety policy:

- Q: Is it important for you as a chief nursing officer to ensure that doctors are getting in their preadmit orders in a timely fashion?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Would you agree that it's a health and safety issue?
- A: <u>I think it could be</u>, but I wouldn't agree blanket. I wouldn't say yes definitively.
- Q: A failure to deliver timely orders could lead to giving improper care to a patient; correct?
- A: <u>I suppose that circumstance could exist.</u>
 (CP 335.)

D. From June 2015 - December 2017, the Hospital Routinely Violated the Provider Order Policy, the Consent Policy, and the Pre-Admission Protocol.

From June 2015 until December 2017, the Hospital tracked surgeons who failed to deliver mandatory documentation (including pre-surgical orders, risk screens, H&Ps, and consents) as of the day before surgery. (CP 337-474.) During this 31-month period, there were approximately <u>4,345</u> times that a surgeon was deemed non-compliant with the Pre-Admission Protocol, or an average of about 140 times per month. (*Id.*)

From January 2018 through July 31, 2018, the Hospital tracked an additional 1,000+ instances of non-compliance with the orders and consent policies, but the Hospital loosened the criteria to "final sign off by RN 3 days before surgery." (CP 476-510.) During this period, Bennett directed the nurses to also submit "IRIS" reports when non-compliance occurred. (*Id* 512.) In a seven-month period, the nurses reported an additional 59 times when the physicians failed to deliver orders, consents, risk screens, or

H&Ps. (*Id.*) Finally, a hard-copy spreadsheet tacked to the back of a door in the SADU tracked another 96 instances of non-compliance during the same period. (*Id.* 514-529.)

During this same period, the Hospital assigned Tammy Dobson, the Regional Project Manager for Perioperative Services, to address the seemingly obvious task of ensuring that surgeries did not occur in the absence of critical, albeit readily available, information. (CP 279.) Ms. Dobson "identif[ied] those providers (employed and community) that are currently not complying with [the Hospital's] CHI FH Standard Preadmit Process and associated documentation requirements." (*Id.* 938.) On June 7, 2017, Ms. Dobson sent a non-compliance report to Bennett identifying 35 surgeons who routinely ignored the patient record policies. (*Id.* 938-939.) With the tracking data and the list of non-compliant providers, there was nothing preventing the Hospital from addressing this problem, yet nothing changed.

E. Cahan Reported that the Hospital Was Failing its Patients and Nurses By Allowing the Chronic Non-Compliance with its Policies.

On December 12, 2017—after discussing the issues with her colleagues and getting no help from management on her unit—Cahan reported to the Hospital's Risk Manager and Clinical Nurse Specialist that nurses were being pressured and allowed to admit patients and administer care, treatment, and services before receiving orders, consents, or H&Ps. (CP 949-954; 08.19.2019 Cahan Declaration ¶ 11.) To the Risk Manager, Aileen Geerings, Cahan wrote:

There are several patients that come to us for surgery that do not have orders from their doctors pre admission. [...] We do try to call the doctors but many of our patients arrive at 0500 and reaching the doctor is not possible at that hour. (The doctor on call doesn't want to write orders for another doctor's non emergent surgical patients). This has been an ongoing issue and there have been too many incidents where we are being told to bring the patients back to begin their admissions BEFORE we get actual orders on an H and P or a consent.

(*Id.* 956.) Cahan forwarded the same message to the Clinical Nurse Specialist, Christopher Peredney. (*Id.* 949-954, 956.) In response, Ms. Geerings responded that "[y]ou should have orders to execute prior to the patient arriving to SADU. At the very least you should have an order for the procedure being performed." (*Id.*) Similarly, Mr. Peredney responded by referencing the Provider Order Policy and the Surgical Preadmission Assessment and Documentation Guidelines, which require that orders be delivered two days before surgery. (*Id.*)

Cahan provided Ms. Geerings' and Mr. Peredney's responses to Bennet and the interim department director, Amanda Brandon. (CP 599; 08.19.2019 Cahan Declaration ¶ 13.) On December 13, 2017, Bennett responded to Cahan as follows: "It would be helpful to have specific incidents to refer to hold providers accountable. It is difficult to make effective changes with blanket statements, unfortunately we need specifics." (*Id.* 949-954.) This was stunningly disingenuous. Bennett had more than 30 months of data at her fingertips, including a provider noncompliance report. Bennett deflected Cahan's concerns because it was her responsibility to address the problem, and she had failed.

On December 13, 2017, Cahan informed Bennett she would no longer admit patients for whom a doctor had not provided the required documentation. (CP 599; 08.19.2019 Cahan Declaration ¶ 15.) She wrote:

Chris [Peredney] indicated that we should not take patients at all without orders so now I am genuinely confused. Do we take them and wait 15 minutes or do we not take them to preserve our licensure until we get orders? The procedure patients do not fall under anesthesia protocol so while we have them in our care without orders, that makes us liable. If that's the case, and I am referencing Chris Peredney here, I personally don't feel comfortable in taking these patients anymore."

(*Id.* 960; emphasis added.) The following day, on December 14, 2017, Bennett reported Cahan's decision to her interim director, Brandon, and the Chief Nursing Officer, Johnson:

One SADU nurse Kasey has stated she will no longer accept patients from IR or Cath lab until orders are placed in Epic due to the consistent issue with delays in receiving orders, sometimes up to 90 minutes. I understand the nurses feel liable for the patients and cannot provide quality care without orders from the providers.

(CP 959.) In the same message, Bennett informed Johnson that "<u>Cardiology</u> and Radiology providers are also on the 'naughty list' for lack of preprocedure orders as well as post-procedure orders." (*Id.*; emphasis added.)

On December 27, 2017, Cahan refused to admit a patient without report or orders because the doctor had yet to provide the required documentation. (CP 599; 08.19.2019 Cahan Declaration ¶ 16.) The day after Cahan refused to admit the patient without the necessary documentation, on December 28, 2017, the Hospital suspended Cahan for the first time in 23 years of employment. Cahan was fired less than six

months later following a string of faux-disciplinary charges by the same Hospital administrators who were responsible for pressuring nurses, including Cahan, to administer care without provider orders or patient consents.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals erred by ruling that (1) a clear mandate of public policy does not exist prohibiting nurses from administering care to patients without provider orders; and (2) a clear mandate of public policy does not exist prohibiting nurses from administering care to patients without patient consents. The ruling has wide ranging implications for exposing nurses to liability for exceeding the scope of their licenses, and exposing patients to care that should only be administered according to provider orders and with informed consent. The Court of Appeals also erred by not reaching whether Cahan's protected activity was a substantial factor motivating the Hospital to terminate her employment; and whether the Hospital's justification for Cahan's termination was pretextual.

Cahan asserts a single claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy. In *Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co.*, the Washington Supreme Court held that to prevail on the cause of action, a plaintiff employee must demonstrate that his or her "discharge may have been motivated by reasons that contravene a clear mandate of public policy." *Id.*, 102 Wn. 2d 219, 232, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984). Then, "the burden shifts to the employer to prove that the dismissal was for reasons other than those alleged by the employee." *Id.* at 232-33, 685 P.2d 1081. The tort has

generally been limited to four scenarios: "(1) where employees are fired for refusing to commit an illegal act; (2) where employees are fired for performing a public duty or obligation, such as serving jury duty; (3) where employees are fired for exercising a legal right or privilege, such as filing workers' compensation claims; and (4) where employees are fired in retaliation for reporting employer misconduct, *i.e.*, whistle-blowing." *Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc.*, 128 Wn.2d 931, 936, 913 P.2d 377 (1996) (citing *Dicomes v. State*, 113 Wn.2d 612, 618, 782 P.2d 1002 (1989)).

Cahan's wrongful termination falls within the traditional four scenarios as her claim arises from her reporting of the Hospital's misconduct and her refusal to commit an unlawful act; namely, providing care and treatment to a patient for whom no consent and no orders had been written. Accordingly, this Court should apply the standard enunciated in *Thompson. See Becker v. Cmty. Health Sys., Inc.*, 184 Wn.2d 252, 258-59, 359 P.3d 746 (2015); *Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 277-78, 287, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015). Under the applicable jury instructions, Cahan prevails by "proving that a substantial factor motivating the employer to terminate her employment was her refusing to commit an unlawful act, performing a public duty, exercising a legal right or privilege, or reporting what she reasonably believed to be employer misconduct." *See* WPI 330.50.

A. A Clear Mandate of Public Policy Prohibits Nurses From Providing Patient Care Without Provider Orders or Patient Consents.

The trial court correctly concluded Cahan asserted sufficiently specific and clear public policies to satisfy this element of her claim. The Court of Appeals erred by reversing this finding.

It is a question of law "whether ... a clear mandate of public policy exists" for purposes of claiming wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. *Sedlacek v. Hillis*, 145 Wn.2d 379, 388, 36 P.3d 1014 (2001). The plaintiff's burden is to "establish a clear statement of public policy, not that ... that the public policy was [actually] violated." *Hubbard v. Spokane Cty.*, 146 Wn. 2d 699, 708, 50 P.3d 602 (2002), overruled by *Rose*, 184 Wn. 2d 268 on other grounds. To state her cause of action, Cahan must have been seeking to "further the public good, and not merely private or proprietary interests." *Farnam v. CRISTA Ministries*, 116 Wn. 2d 659, 671–72, 807 P.2d 830 (1991) (citing *Dicomes*, at 620). At the trial court, the evidence was indisputable that Cahan reported Hospital practices that negatively affect the public good by jeopardizing patient safety and care. Based on these facts and the following legal authority, the Court of Appeals should affirm that Cahan has satisfied the "public policy" element of her wrongful termination claim.

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