FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/23/2021 1:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 999473

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHNGTON

KASEY CAHAN, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington public benefit corporation, d/b/a ST. FRANCIS HOSPITAL,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

POLSINELLI PC

Jessica M. Andrade, WSBA No. 39297 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 393-5400

Bennett L. Cohen, Colorado SBA No. 26511 (*Admitted Pro Hac Vice*) 1401 Lawrence St., Ste. 2300 Denver, CO 80202 Phone: (720) 931-8155

Attorneys for Respondent

II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The core narrative of any claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy is: *My employer required me to do something that would have violated public policy; I refused; and my employer fired me as a result.*

Cahan devotes half of her Petition for Review to her statement of the case, but nowhere in this narrative is there anything resembling a legally cognizable claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. Cahan's Petition for Review naturally ignores the wealth of undisputed evidence that justified her dismissal—the extensive and undisputed record about how Cahan's inability to communicate effectively and lack of professionalism created discord with her co-workers, negatively impacted morale, and disrupted the productivity and cohesiveness of her department. As her performance evaluations over the years established, Cahan simply did not listen, and had to have things her way. That is why she was eventually given a formal Performance Improvement Plan, and was suspended and eventually discharged for refusing to accept it. *See* Opinion at 8–13.

Cahan's Petition avoids all of this, and instead develops only Cahan's complaints to Hospital management about the paperwork bottleneck. Cahan had convinced the trial court that Washington law recognizes a public policy against nurses administering care to patients without their consent (based on the common law doctrine of informed consent); and a public policy against nurses administering care without a doctor's orders (based on the Washington licensing statute for nurses which explains how nurses operate independently with respect to some aspects of medical care and treatment, and "interdependently" when executing a doctor's orders).

The trial court nonetheless entered summary judgment against Cahan because the undisputed facts confirmed that Cahan's confrontational, dismissive, and bullying behavior justified her termination, and because Cahan presented no evidence that her complaints about the paperwork bottleneck resulted in her discharge.

Cahan appealed from this summary judgment, and the Hospital cross-appealed the trial court's legal ruling that Cahan had articulated new and cognizable public policy bases for the tort of wrongful discharge (even though Cahan's own case did not implicate her proffered public policies).

The Court of Appeals wisely decided to take up the question of whether Cahan really did identify a new public policy—a more far-reaching question than whether the undisputed facts at summary judgment established that Cahan was fired for reasons other than complaining about the paperwork bottleneck.

In its unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals succinctly reviewed the well-developed record of undisputed facts regarding how the Hospital did not fire Cahan for complaining about the paperwork bottleneck, but took her complaints seriously, and responded supportively and professionally. *See* Opinion at 2–8.

Specifically, Cahan did indeed complain to Hospital management about patients being sent to her department before all of their consent paperwork and orders had been entered into the Hospital's electronic record system. *Id.* at 3–4 (quoting Cahan's detailed email complaining about the problem and asking how she should handle the situation). This is the part that Cahan emphasizes in her Petition. *See* Petition for Review at 10.

The Court of Appeals then reviewed the Hospital's response to Cahan's *what should I do* query—a key and dispositive portion of the record below that Cahan omits from her Petition. As the Court of Appeals laid out in detail, Hospital management responded timely, beginning with an immediate response email that forwarded the relevant Hospital procedures. *See* Opinion at 4. Then Hospital management provided more detailed responses the next day. *Id.* at 5. These responses were thoroughly professional and supportive. They acknowledged that Cahan had raised important concerns—indeed, the Hospital wanted to know which doctors were dilatory in entering orders into the electronic record system. *Id.* at 6. Management provided detailed directions to Cahan regarding what to do and who to call should she ever again have a patient arrive in her department

without all the patient's orders and other paperwork having been properly

entered into the Hospital's system. Id. at 5-7. Management even provided

draft language to show Cahan how to report these issues to management:

An example email or IRIS [the Hospital's anonymous complaint system] would say:

"I received a liver BX patient of Dr. Chen's today from IR at 1230. There were no post-procedure orders in Epic [the Hospital's electronic record system]. I called him to ask that orders be placed. The orders were not in Epic until 1300. This delayed my ability to provide care for the patient."

Id. at 7, quoting Hospital management's detailed directions to Cahan.

Cahan's manager concluded by explaining why such specifics were

needed for management to address the problem:

I understand the frustration and anxiety this causes and I want to resolve it. It would be helpful to have specific incidents to refer to hold providers accountable. It is difficult to make effective changes with blanket statements, unfortunately we need specifics.

Id. In other words, Hospital management completely agreed with Cahan about this issue, and asked her to help solve it.

Cahan ignored these instructions. The next time a patient arrived in her department without the requisite paperwork in the system, Cahan did not report the problem up the chain as directed, and work cooperatively to address it. She simply refused to admit the patient. Opinion at 7. Cahan left it to others to report the problem to management and help resolve it, as she had been asked to do. *Id.* at 8.

The Court of Appeals ruled that Cahan had not identified a proper clear mandate of public policy that could support a wrongful discharge claim on the facts she presented. Cahan had not pointed to a single patient who had not provided informed consent for treatment, or who was treated by professionals who were operating beyond the scope of their licenses. Rather, Cahan was complaining only that the consent documentation and physician orders had not been timely entered into the Hospital's electronic records system, requiring her to make efforts to fix this internal paperwork problem. *Id.* at 20–22. She was not seeking to advance the public good, *e.g.*, by protecting patients from unauthorized and unwanted surgeries, but rather was raising purely private complaints to Hospital management about having to pick up slack left by some doctors. *Id.*

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

This Court's consideration of petitions for discretionary review is guided by the criteria in RAP 13.4(b):

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

There are no conflicts in decisional law here, so criteria (1) and (2) are not at issue. (Indeed, the Court of Appeals properly disposes of easy cases like Cahan's in unpublished opinions to avoid creating the sort of

decisional law that might otherwise warrant this Court's attention and limited resources.) Nor does Cahan's Petition present any constitutional issues. Only criterion (4)—public interest—is potentially at issue here.

But even that criterion is not joined by this case. Determining precisely what public policies are important enough to limit at-will employment may be a matter of substantial public interest. But here, the Court of Appeals did not have to struggle with whether to alter the balance between at-will employment and protecting conduct aimed at fostering the public good. Rather, the Court of Appeals recognized that Cahan had transparently attempted to manufacture public policies to fit the facts of her well-justified discharge, and rejected these proffered public policies.

Any discharged employee can argue that he was fired in violation of some invented public policy. *Yes, I was fired for my excessive absenteeism, but I was taking "mental health" days. Washington recognizes a strong public policy of supporting mental health (per the mental health parity provisions in WAC 284-43-5642), so I was discharged in violation of this established public policy.* This Court has warned lower courts against chipping away at at-will employment principles by judicial recognition of new public policies, which discharged employees can always invent to suit their situation. *Sedlacek v. Hillis*, 145 Wn.2d 379, 389 (2001) (courts "cannot conclude that a clear mandate of public policy exists merely because the plaintiff can point to a potential source of public policy that addresses the relevant issue."); *Roberts v. Dudley*, 140 Wn.2d 58, 65 (2000) ("A court may not *sua sponte* manufacture public policy but rather must rely on that public policy previously manifested in the constitution, a statute, or

a prior court decision.").

Thus, when a lower court recognizes a new public policy, this Court may be interested in exercising its discretion to review the decision in order to police the balance between at-will employment and public policy wrongful discharge. By contrast, an unpublished decision that carefully considers and correctly rejects a discharged employee's attempt to manufacture a new and dubious public policy is not the sort of decision that merits this Court's discretionary review. Especially where the invented public policy is not even implicated by the employee's conduct.

A. Cahan did not articulate a cognizable public policy.

In the trial court, Cahan offered two ostensible clear mandates of public policy to support her claim for wrongful discharge: (1) a public policy prohibiting nurses from administering care to patients without provider orders, and (2) a public policy prohibiting nurses from administering care to patients without patient consent. *See* Opinion at 18; Petition at 1.

Cahan argued below that the first public policy is grounded in Washington statutes and regulations describing the practice of nursing as following physicians' orders. Petition at 14–15, citing RCW 18.79.040(1)(e), 18.79.260, and WAC 246-840-705. This is true, so far as it goes. A nursing license has its limits—there are certain things that nurses may only do "under the general direction of a licensed physician or surgeon," such as administer medications, treatments, tests, and inoculations. Petition at 15. Cahan's wrongful discharge claim is based on the premise that Washington law prohibits nurses from administering any care or treatment independently—they may **only** do what doctors order them to do. *Id.* Thus, as Cahan argued below, Washington law and public policy supposedly required her to refuse to admit patients without first having orders in place because she could do nothing until she received a doctor's orders, lest she act beyond the scope of her license.

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, however, Cahan only describes part of the practice of nursing. Nurses sometimes act interdependently and are required to follow doctors' orders, *e.g.* when they are "executing of medical regimen as prescribed by a licensed physician and surgeon." RCW 18.79.040(1)(e), WAC 246-840-705(3). But nurses have extensive education and training that provides them with "specialized knowledge, judgment, and skill," which nurses can employ, and are properly expected to employ, independently. Opinion at 19, quoting RCW 18.79.040(1), 18.79.040(1)(a), and WAC 246-840-705(3).

Thus, if a patient came to Cahan's department before a doctor's orders were properly entered into the Hospital's electronic record system, public policy does not require Cahan to refuse to admit the patient. Cahan could begin the admissions process by, *e.g.*, taking the patient's vitals and providing other initial care and treatment that was within the scope of her independent nursing practice, while waiting for orders for anything that was beyond that scope. The Hospital drew this line clearly for Cahan, so she would know what to do and not to do, and thereby allay any concerns about practicing beyond her license; and the Hospital told Cahan precisely how to follow up to obtain the orders when they were not entered into the electronic records system. *See* Opinion at 3–7 (reviewing in detail Cahan's *what am*

I supposed to do questions and the Hospital's detailed and thorough answers to them).

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Cahan did not refuse to admit a patient in late December 2017 because doing so would be contrary to public policy. She refused to admit that patient as a petulant expression of her frustration over having to pick up slack left by others. Opinion at 21–22.

The same analysis applies even more strongly to Cahan's other proffered mandate of public policy prohibiting nurses from administering care to patients without their consent. Cahan did not argue below that any patients were being operated on, treated, or otherwise cared for without their informed consent. Rather, Cahan's complaint was that the existing consent paperwork had not been timely entered into the Hospital's electronic records system. Opinion at 20–21. Cahan acknowledged that if the Hospital had not obtained a patient's written informed consent before a surgery, there would be a "hard stop." *Id.* at 21.

No aspect of Washington public policy requires nurses to stand idly by and do nothing for patients until all of their informed consent paperwork is properly uploaded into the Hospital's internal record system. If Cahan were genuinely concerned about losing her nursing license for caring for a patient without consent, then she could always ask *May I take your blood pressure?* etc. before doing so.

The Court of Appeals also properly questioned whether the tort doctrine of informed consent could even constitute a clear mandate of public policy. Opinion at 21. The Court of Appeals chose to "assum[e] without

deciding that the doctrine of informed consent rises to the level of a clear public policy," in rejecting Cahan's claim that her termination arguably contravened this policy. Id. The Court of Appeals was correct to view its assumption skeptically. The informed consent doctrine arose at common law to provide a tort remedy for a patient who suffered injury from a medical treatment that a reasonably prudent person would not have consented to under similar circumstances. Opinion at 20–21 and n.14; Stewart-Graves v. Vaughn, 162 Wn.2d 115, 122 (2007). Informed consent claims are thus inherently situational—a cognizable and meritorious claim for informed consent depends entirely on the specific facts of each case, and what is reasonable under the circumstances. Id. Unless and until the Washington State Legislature decides to micromanage the practice of medicine by legislating exactly how medical professionals must advise their patients in specific situations, the doctrine of informed consent cannot supply a "clear mandate of public policy" as needed to support a wrongful discharge claim. E.g. Sedlacek, 145 Wn.2d at 385 ("findings of public policy must be clearly grounded in legislation or prior jurisprudence in order to protect employers from frivolous lawsuits and to assure balance between the interests of the employer and the interests of the employee"). Otherwise, a hospital could not fire an anti-vaxxer employee for spreading vaccine misinformation to patients, since the fired employee could portray the misinformation as facts that the employee is obligated to disseminate under the public policy of "informed consent." Cahan's informed consent-based public policy claim thus fails under this analysis as well. Sedlacek, supra; accord Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc., 165 Wn.2d 200, 235, ¶ 61

(Madsen, J., concurring/dissenting) ("An employer should not be exposed to liability where a public policy standard is **too general** to provide any specific guidance or is **so vague that it is subject to different interpretations.**" (emphases added)).

B. Cahan invented her proffered public policies not to further the public good, but to provide a basis to sue her employer over her eminently justifiable discharge.

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